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«“

. the concerns and duties of one era
have been replaced by the different worries
and occupations of another period.”

Peacham, Vermont
Fifty Years of Economic and Social Change
1929-1979

By SHEPARD B. CLOUGH AND LORNA QUIMBY

In 1929 just before the Great Depression introduced great changes,
Peacham had many of the characteristics typical of a Vermont farming
community.! It had 29,579 acres and a population of 620. It was a place
rich in civic pride, in community spirit, and in traditional ideals. It could
look back to a time when its people enjoyed an economic prosperity
reflected in substantial homes. It possessed an Academy which had sent
generations of young people on to careers of distinction, and it had a
religious establishment which had set the tone for a high level of public
behavior. It was a homogeneous community whose citizens generally shared
common values and similar experiences. Only a few Catholics diluted the
solid Protestant majority. Most of the inhabitants lived on or near the place
of their birth. The small transient population consisted mostly of seasonal
workers in the woods, farm laborers, and summer visitors.

By later standards the community was remarkably, but not entirely,
self-reliant. In fact, the town met nearly all its expenditures. Welfare was a
local affair, and the annual Town Report identified recipients by name
and the amounts spent in their behalf. The Report for 1939 indicated
that “during the past year 96 cents out of every dollar available to the
Old Age Assistance Department was paid in benefits to eligible elderly
persons and only 4 cents was used for administration. The cost to the
State for administration was 1.6 cents and 2.4 cents was paid by the Federal
Government.” In addition, the town received small sums to encourage the
hiring of accredited teachers and to help cover the expenses of certain
roads.



The local constable enforced law and order. His most onerous task was
escorting belligerent drunks home from the dance hall in East Peacham.
Fish and Game law violations were the most serious “crimes” in town.
Incidents involving theft were frequently solved by the victims going to the
culprit and advising the return of the object in question by a certain time
“or else.” Vandalism was nonexistent, and assaults on persons were not
recorded. The residents regularly left their doors unlocked. In some cases
there were no locks.

Although the mainstay of economic activity in Peacham in 1929 was
dairying, some other activities produced modest incomes. Thirty-five
maple syrup operations supplemented farm revenues. Lumbering, carried
on mostly in the winter time as an adjunct to farming, produced some
income. In addition to logging, the town had two small sawmills; one was
in Green Bay, owned and operated by Orin Jennison; the other was in
Ewells Hollow, owned by the Allen Family and operated by the capable
Edith Allen, who sawed many of the shingles used in town. Peacham
loggers “exported” some of the timber to neighboring towns and sent pulp
to paper mills in the vicinity.?

Six or seven carpenters, three of whom plied the trade fulltime, found
employment, most doing repair work. The town had five stores (two at
Peacham Corner, two in South Peacham, and one in East Peacham),
one blacksmith shop (horses still provided most of the power for traction),
one barber shop, one church, one dance hall (the Brookside Hall in East
Peacham), and two boarding houses. There was no resident doctor or
lawyer, but the people of Peacham could obtain medical and legal ser-
vices from neighboring towns.

The boarding houses played a role of particular importance. They
brought to the town “people from away,” who spread the word about the
beauties of Peacham and some of whom eventually settled in the town.
Elsie Choate ran the most active of these establishments. Her Choate
Inn catered to enough people to fill one house and a smaller “annex.”
A little later, Clarence and May Edsen opened the Elms just outside the
Corner, and certain farmers took in summer guests. These places provided
jobs for the local girls and places to live for teachers or boarding students
at the Academy.

The possibility of owning a cottage at one of the town’s three ponds or at
nearby Harvey's Lake also attracted people to Peacham. Many of these
camps were crude shacks which provided little more than slight comfort to
the occupants. There were four places at Ewells Pond, eight at Martins
Pond, and twenty-one camps or lots at Peacham Pond, then known as
Onion River Pond. In 1929 these properties contributed little to the tax
income of the town.






purchased the second.* By 1930 Henry Ford had produced over one
million of his Model T’s, and the price had fallen to such an extent that
an operable secondhand vehicle could be had for as little as $35.00,
well within the means of most Peacham farmers.

In addition to making it easier to carry fluid milk the automobile
forced the improvement of the roads. In 1929 all the local thoroughfares
were dirt or gravel, adequate for horses and buggies but not as suitable,
unless well maintained, for cars. In winter the snow was rolled to make a
firm platform for sleighs and sleds, but these roads became quagmires
when the snow melted and frost came out of the ground. For at least
four months in winter and spring roads were practically impassable for the
new-fangled machines. The Selectmen, who were farmers themselves,
realized that the town had to perform more “road work.” More road work
meant larger expenditures and higher taxes. Furthermore, the town as
well as the farmers had turned to motorized equipment. At first the town
hired trucks from local residents to haul gravel and tractors to pull the
grader to smooth and shape the roads. In 1931, however, the town bought
a tractor and snowplow. In the next year the town used some tar on its
roads, and in 1936 it applied Tarvia to the highway from South Peacham
to the Barnet line. Snow rolling continued on several of the back roads to as
late as 1936.°

The revolution in the transportation of milk brought with it a myriad
of other changes. The increased use of milk as a drink led to health laws
to protect the consumer. Creameries had to insure a low bacteria count
and a minimum of butterfat in their milk. By 1925 state health laws
required area testing of cows for bovine tuberculosis and the destruction
of animals found infected. In 1931 the laws mandated pasteurization of
milk. These demands, and the mounting pressure from more discrimi-
nating customers for high quality dairy products, required large invest-
ments for equipment and for cows which would meet the new standards.
Many farmers who had peddled milk to local customers could not or
would not make the necessary outlays. They sold out to entrepreneurs
who would, or they shipped their milk to large processors in metropolitan
areas.

Another source of added expense was the farmers’ increasing concern for
the quality of their herds. The Vermont Dairymen’s Association, the first
in the nation, organized in 1869 to agitate for herd improvement, and
dairymen formed cow testing associations to check on the production of
individual cows. Vermont had only two testing associations in 1909, but
the number had increased to twenty-three by 1930. With information
which testers provided a farmer could eliminate “robber cows” from the
herd. One local farmer reported at the Peacham Historical Association












$3.22 per 100 pounds of whole milk at wholesale prices. The price had
dropped to $1.28 by 1932 and had only climbed back to $1.69 in 1939.
The effect of this collapse of prices was increased because the drop came
at a time when the milk industry was in the throes of the revolution
which required high capital investments to increase efficiency in produc-
tion and to replace the vanishing labor force with machinery.!® At the
same time, farmers faced the growing demands of their families to share
in the myriad of new consumer goods — a demand fueled by expectations
of men who had seen how others lived when away at war or war work
and by massive advertising campaigns in that golden period of magazines
and the dawning age of the radio.

During these years, Peacham'’s farmers pursued remarkably conservative
policies and displayed enormous restraint. Purchases were meager. Loans
were obtained for only basic equipment. In 1939 the principal of the
Academy bought a refrigerator, the proprietor of one of Peacham’s board-
ing houses bought a washing machine, a farmer bought a few registered
cows —the first time this item appears on a chattel mortgage. Otherwise
the transactions were for replacement cows, a few horses, and one or two
secondhand cars.

Under similar hard times farmers had formerly turned their efforts to
producing other things than milk to augment their income. Once they
could have gone to lumbering, especially to cutting pine for wooden boxes,
but corrugated and other cardboards had largely replaced wooden boxes.
Nor did they have much of a demand for construction lumber, for building
was at a standstill. Some farmers did more maple sugaring than was their
wont, but some sugarbushes had been cut to reap a quick profit, and
many were destroyed by the hurricane of 1938. Some farmers tried diver-
sification. Most were as self-sufficient as possible. County Agents en-
couraged diversification of farm products in the 1930’s, a theme to which
they returned in 1980.

Many farmers turned to poultry as a supplement to milk production.
Frank Dubois, a “book farmer” from Lynn, Massachusetts, began one
relatively large poultry farm in about 1926. Marsh Byington bought the
operation shortly thereafter, and Byington, in turn, sold to Clifton School-
craft and moved to a larger farm on Lake Champlain. Schoolcraft’s
enterprise grew steadily through the 1950’s and 1960’s and at its peak
employed six people on a full-time basis. By 1979, however, further
development of this business required considerable new investment, not
justified by the low return, and the enterprise was abandoned.!! Several
other farmers maintained flocks of from 200 to 500 hens, and in the
1960’s poultry business experienced another small boom. In general, how-
ever, farmers in Peacharn discovered that they could not compete with the
huge “broiler factories” of the Middle West, many financed by large grain
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to modulars, from lean-tos and mobile homes to imposing town houses.
Carpenters or architects remodeled existing buildings with oversized gables,
ells which lacked traditional proportions, and out-structures which be-
longed elsewhere.

By the late 1960’s many residents reached the conclusion that growth
needed to be controlled. In 1970 the voters adopted a zoning regulation
over the opposition of people who argued that “a man’s home was his
castle.” Late in the 1970’s the town residents strengthened this first simple
ordinance. They feared that the three villages in Peacham might become
blighted by piles of junk, trailer parks, refuse dumps, fast food shacks,
or industrial development. The voters adopted new rules in December,
1980, which spelled out in detail what people could or could not do with
their property in specified parts of the town. 26

The zoning rules indicated a growing attitude of impersonal relations
among the population which had replaced much of an older type of
friendly consensus. The wealthier elements in Peacham expected services
such as mowing lawns, house-cleaning, and weeding gardens. They
demanded dust-free roads and increased law enforcement, while the less
affluent believed that many services, like caring for the poor, providing
medical services, and helping the victims of calamity, should be rendered
by some governmental agency. Such attitudes led to a lessening of self-
reliance and to a trend to lean on agencies far away with intrusive and
bureaucratic tendencies.

The move toward more impersonal relationships among people was
furthered by a growing practice among Peachamites to do their major
shopping in stores “far” away rather than in local retail establishments.
The latter became more and more service or convenience stores handling
basic products and a few perishable items. Of the five stores which existed
in 1929 but one general store continued to operate in South Peacham,
and a speciality store, cum catering, remained at Peacham Corner.

Along with changes in building and merchandizing came changes
in Peacham’s educational system. A new and up-to-date elementary school
was built in 1969 which replaced the one-room rural schools. These older
buildings, when placed on the market, attracted buyers from away. Only
one rural school building remained intact (in the South Part) in 1979
to show how children had once been housed while learning the “three
R’s.” Most of Peacham’s students had traditionally attended Peacham
Academy, officially the Caledonia County Grammar School, dating back
to 1795. This institution had played an important part in Peacham’s
life. It tended to unify various elements in the population. Its teachers
brought cultural gifts to the community and married into local families,
and it was a major employer of the town.
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